RECEIVED

Mar 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHARVIX L. WRIGHT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001537

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the circuit court judge abuse his discretion by denying Appellant's request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the circuit court judge ruled Appellant's "claim of self-defense present[ed] a quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution"?

II. In the alternative, if this Court determines the trial judge ruled on the merits of Appellant's request for immunity such that the ruling may be reviewed by this Court, did the trial judge err by failing to find Appellant was immune from prosecution under the Act where Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he acted in self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R. 374.¹ On December 6, 2021, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to section 16-11-450, a statutory provision contained within the Protection of Persons and Property Act of the South Carolina Code. R. 369. On December 10, 2021, Appellant appeared before the Honorable J. Derham Cole for a hearing on his motion. R. 1. Barry J. Barnette represented the state, and Daniel J. MacDonald, IV, represented Appellant. R. 1. Prior to counsel even making his argument at the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, Judge Cole indicated he would “review everything and issue a decision.” R. 84, ll. 18-19. Only after a bench conference did he allow counsel to present argument. R. 84, l. 20 – R. 99, l. 5. Nevertheless, by an order filed December 14, 2021, Judge Cole denied Appellant’s request for immunity. R. 371.

Thus, the state, represented by Barnette, called the case for trial on December 13-15, 2021, before Judge Cole. R. 117. MacDonald and Louei Christopher Nmair represented Appellant. R. 117. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 353, ll. 4-8. Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to thirty years imprisonment for voluntary

¹ Appellant was also indicted for unlawful possession of a firearm after being prohibited to do so by a court order. R. 119, ll. 14-16. Initially, Appellant exercised his right to a jury trial on this charge as well, and the case was called along with the murder and weapon charges. R. 119, ll. 14-16. However, immediately after jury selection, Appellant indicated his desire to enter a guilty plea to this offense only. R. 120, l. 12 – R. 124, l. 21. The Honorable Derham Cole accepted Appellant’s guilty plea and deferred sentencing until the end of the trial. R. 124, ll. 19-20. Further, the state indicated the factual basis of the guilty plea would be developed through the evidence presented during the trial. R. 124, l. 23 – R. 125, l. 4. Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to three years imprisonment for this offense. R. 354, l. 25 – R. 355, l. 7. He ordered the sentence to be served consecutively to the sentences of thirty years and five years, which he imposed on the other charges. R. 355, ll. 5-7.

manslaughter and five years for the weapon. R. 354, ll. 13-24; R. 376. He ordered these sentences to be served concurrently. R. 354, ll. 22-24; R. 376.

On December 20, 2021, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts review a claim of immunity under the Act using an abuse of discretion standard of review. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013); see also State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Douglas, 411 S.C. at 316, 768 S.E.2d at 237 (internal citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court judge abused his discretion by denying Appellant's request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the circuit court judge ruled Appellant's "claim of self-defense present[ed] a quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution."

Relevant facts

At the conclusion of the hearing on Appellant's request for immunity, defense counsel argued that the evidence demonstrated Appellant acted in self-defense. R. 85, ll. 23-24. Defense counsel argued Appellant was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty because the deceased charged him with a knife. R. 87, ll. 4-13. Acknowledging that the deceased's conduct was in response to Appellant kicking in an air conditioning unit, defense counsel noted the deceased's "violent behavior was an unreasonable reaction to kicking in the AC unit." R. 87, ll. 14-17. Further, the evidence showed Appellant was trying to leave the residence when he was approached by the deceased with a knife. R. 88, ll. 10-18.

According to defense counsel, the physical evidence supported Appellant's testimony. The autopsy report showed the bullet was fired at close proximity and an officer noting stippling around the gunshot wound, which corroborated Appellant's statements. R. 89, l. 24 – R. 90, l. 6. The autopsy report also showed the projectile entered into the front side of the deceased showing that she was facing Appellant, which aligned with Appellant's testimony. R. 90, ll. 6-11. Additionally, the autopsy report showed "the trajectory of the bullet was at an upward angle" supporting Appellant's testimony that the gun fired as he pulled the gun up from his hip. R. 90, l. 23 – R. 91, l. 7. Despite what the circuit court judge would later conclude in his order, defense counsel did *not* argue the circuit court was required to accept Appellant's version of the

underlying facts. See R. *(order). Rather, counsel argued that there had “been no witnesses called today that could provide eyewitness testimony of what happened that would contradict any of [Appellant]’s statements.” R. 93, ll. 13-17. In fact, counsel heavily relied upon how the physical evidence corroborated Appellant’s testimony of what occurred preceding the shooting to support his argument for immunity.

The prosecutor argued Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity because “[h]e kept a gun in his house” and he was not legally allowed to possess a weapon.² R. 94, ll. 2-5. The prosecutor also argued that Appellant “gave basically three statements” and “[n]one of them [were] consistent.” R. 94, ll. 11-13. Additionally, the prosecutor claimed that because Appellant “shoved the air conditioner through there” he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. R. 95, l. 25 – R. 96, l. 2. The prosecutor characterized this conduct as aggravating the situation and contributing to it. R. 96, ll. 2-7.

According to the prosecutor, the physical evidence did not support Appellant’s testimony because there was no blood on the knife that Appellant contended was in the deceased’s possession when she lunged at him. R. 95, ll. 4-20. Most disturbingly, the solicitor argued that Appellant “could have easily left from that situation,” which was tantamount to arguing that Appellant had a legal obligation to retreat. R. 96, ll. 13-14.

On the first day of trial, the judge filed his written order denying immunity. In the order, after summarizing the evidence presented during the hearing on Appellant’s request for immunity, the circuit court judge erroneously asserted that Appellant “argue[d] that his testimony is not undisputed [*sic*] and therefore should be accepted by the Court as the facts relevant to the determination of whether he is entitled to immunity under the Act.” R. 371. The

² Defense counsel responded that Appellant was not engaged in an unlawful activity because he armed himself in self-defense. R. 96, l. 20 – R. 97, l. 5.

circuit court judge cited Black v. Hodge, 306 S.C. 196, 420 S.E.2d 595 (Ct. App. 1991) for the following proposition: “The fact that testimony is not contradicted directly does not render it undisputed.” R. 371. The circuit court judge also quoted Terwilliger v. Marion, 222 S.C. 185, 72 S.E.2d 165 (1952) to explain “[t]here remains the question of the inherent probability of the testimony and the credibility of the witness or the interests of the witness in the result of the litigation. If there is anything tending to create distrust in his truthfulness, the question must be left to the jury.” R. 371.

Thereafter, the circuit court judge noted he had “the opportunity to hear and observe the defendant as he testified and consider other evidence presented which was observed and collected at the scene.” R. 371. The circuit court judge explained he was “not persuaded by [Appellant]’s version of events as it appear[ed] to be contradicted by the physical evidence observed and collected at the scene.” R. 371. Thus, the circuit court judge concluded that “[i]t appear[ed] that [Appellant]’s ‘claim of self-defense presents a quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution’ as [Appellant] has failed to establish to this Court’s satisfaction by a preponderance of the evidence each of the elements of self-defense which by necessity must be shown to exist before [Appellant] would be entitled to immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-11-440(C).” R. 371.

Discussion

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”). S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). The General Assembly found it “proper for law-

abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized “that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate this intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). Specifically, the Act provides two presumptions for the immunity determination. For purposes of this case, the second presumption is applicable. The Act provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). “A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). During the pretrial hearing, a defendant must show “a valid case of self-defense must exist,” excluding the duty to retreat prong, “and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.” Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266.

In State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011), the Supreme Court held that because immunity under the Act was a bar to prosecution, it “must be decided prior to trial.” The Court also held “that when a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence.” Id. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. In doing so, the Court established that the circuit court must resolve the conflict in the evidence to arrive at findings of fact in order to determine if the defendant proved entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. at 410, 709 S.E.2d at 665. To rule that conflicting evidence “created a question for the jury,” ignores the standard of proof the circuit court was obligated to apply. When faced with conflicting evidence, the circuit court must make credibility findings, not simply conclude at conflict creates “a jury question,” and therefore rule the defendant had not carried his burden of proof.

This point was made clear in the Supreme Court’s affirmance of a grant of immunity in State v. Scott, 424 S.C. 463, 819 S.E.2d 116 (2018). The Court went through each of the elements of self-defense and detailed the circuit court’s factual findings as to each element. Id. at 469-470, 819 S.E.2d at 119. Importantly, the Court emphasized “the circuit court made the necessary factual findings to support the existence of self-defense.” Id. at 471, 819 S.E.2d at 119. After ensuring the record evidence supported the judge’s factual findings, the Court affirmed the circuit court’s findings. Id. Concerning the key issue in the case, the circuit court made credibility findings, to which the Court deferred. Id. at 472-473, 819 S.E.2d at 120.

Despite what appeared clear in the law, the Court directly addressed the matter recently in a trilogy of cases. In State v. McCarty, Op. No. 28116 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Sept. 21, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 34 at 24), the Supreme Court observed that the circuit court issued a

written order in which the court “summarized the evidence presented at the hearing and observed that ‘the core facts [were] largely uncontested.’” State v. McCarty, Op. No. 28116 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Sept. 21, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 34 at 24). Thereafter, the circuit court noted some dispute in the cause and nature of the argument that immediately preceded the shooting. Id. Although the circuit court concluded McCarty failed to meet his burden of showing he had the right to act in defense of another because he did not prove the other person was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, the Supreme Court explained the circuit court erred because the conclusion was based upon the presentation of conflicting evidence, and not the circuit court judge’s resolution of the conflict in the evidence. Id. The Court explained the circuit court “never engaged in the weighing of the evidence, and it did not make any specific credibility or factual findings as to any aspect of the testimony.” Id. Rather, as previously mentioned, the circuit court erroneously concluded McCarty failed to meet his burden of showing the other person was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty because the evidence in that regard was conflicting. Id.

The Supreme Court held that circuit court judges confronted with the question of immunity must resolve conflicts in the evidence. State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019). The Court explained that “just because conflicting evidence as to an immunity issue exists does not automatically require the court to deny immunity; the court must sit as the fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” Id. “Thus, the relevant inquiry is not merely whether there is a conflict in the evidence but, rather, whether the accused has proved an entitlement to immunity under the Act by a preponderance of the evidence.” State v. Andrews, 427 S.C. 178, 181, 830 S.E.2d 12, 13 (2019). “[A] circuit court, as the designated fact-finder in [immunity hearings], must provide

adequate findings to support its decision so an appellate court can perform its role of reviewing the ruling under an abuse of discretion standard.” McCarty, Op. No. 28116 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Sept. 21, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 34 at 24).

As an initial matter, the circuit court judge’s citation to and reliance upon Terwilliger v. Marion, 222 S.C. 185, 72 S.E.2d 165 (1952) is misplaced in the instant case. The circuit court judge misconstrued the meaning of the language it quoted. When considering the issue of whether the trial judge erred by instructing the jury that the uncontradicted testimony of witnesses was not binding on the jury as the jury had the right to determine the truth of the testimony and the weight to be given to the testimony, the Supreme Court stated:

The fact that evidence is not contradicted by evidence does not render it undisputed, as there still remains the question of its inherent probability and the credibility of the witness or his interest in the result. To justify a Court in instructing a jury that a witness has told the truth, and in directing a verdict based on the truthfulness of his evidence, there must be nothing in the circumstances or surroundings tending to impeach the witness or to throw discredit on his statements. If there is anything tending to create distrust in his truthfulness, the question must be left to the jury.

Terwilliger v. Marion, 222 S.C. 185, 188, 72 S.E.2d 165, 166 (1952). The Court also used this reasoning to affirm the trial judge’s denial of the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Id.

The issue before the trial judge in Terwilliger was markedly different than the issue presented in the case sub judice. Here, it was for the circuit court judge *to decide the facts*; whereas in Terwilliger, it was for the trial judge to decide whether the evidence yielded more than one inference of its inference was in doubt. See Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 22, 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (Ct. app. 2006). More simply, “[i]n deciding whether to grant or deny a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence.” Id. Importantly, and what distinguishes the case at bar from Terwilliger, in which the circuit

court judge misplaced his reasoning, is that “[w]hen considering directed verdict motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence.” Id. at 19, 640 S.E.2d at 498.

Here, the circuit court judge abused his discretion by failing to make the findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary to determine whether Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that his conduct satisfied the Act. The circuit court judge summarized Appellant’s testimony, but did not indicate what facts the circuit court judge found by a preponderance of the evidence. Instead, the circuit court judge claimed Appellant had argued that because his testimony was undisputed the circuit court was required to accept it. R. 371. As previously noted, Appellant made no such argument to the circuit court judge. After rejecting the straw man argument that the court had created, the circuit court judge merely concluded that it was “not persuaded by [Appellant]’s version of events” because portions of Appellant’s testimony were “contradicted by the physical evidence observed and collected at the scene.” R. 371. After making this conclusion, the circuit court judge revealed why he was denying immunity – “[Appellant]’s claim of self-defense present[ed] a quintessential jury question, which, most assuredly, [was] not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution.” R. 371 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The circuit court judge, as the trier of fact at the immunity hearing, had the duty to make credibility findings where he found the evidence was not consistent. Instead, the judge found that inconsistent evidence made this a “quintessential jury question.” His ruling was an abdication of his duty to exercise discretion and make credibility findings. That failure to exercise discretion was in itself an abuse of discretion that constituted reversible error because it was a refusal to exercise discretionary authority. See State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767

S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015); Samples v. Mitchell, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997). In light of this error, Appellant respectfully requests this Court vacate the order and remand for a new order.

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