**RECEIVED**

**Mar 06 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY**

**Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2021-001537**

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**CHARVIX L. WRIGHT,**

**Appellant.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General**

**Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727**

**BARRY BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit**

**180 Magnolia St.  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 596-2575**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **Evidence supports the trial court's denial of immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because the trial court reasonably found Wright's story was not credible and inconsistent with the physical evidence.**

Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Wright failed to prove he acted in self-defense. Wright's story was not consistent with the physical evidence, and the trial court reasonably found Wright was not credible. This Court should affirm.

### **A. Issue preservation.**

Wright's claim that the trial court abdicated its duty to act as factfinder is not preserved for review. Brief of Appellant at 12. Wright never objected to the sufficiency of the trial court's ruling and did not request that it make any additional findings. (R.p.125). He may not make this claim of error for the first time on appeal. See State v. Howard, 384 S.C. 212, 222, 682 S.E.2d 42, 47 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Howard did not object to the trial court's basis for admitting his prior convictions, therefore we find this issue is not properly preserved for review."); State v. Policao, 402 S.C. 547, 558, 741 S.E.2d 774, 780 (Ct. App. 2013) ("Because no contemporaneous objection accompanied the trial court's findings, we find this issue unpreserved.").

### **B. The trial court did not abdicate its role as fact-finder.**

Even if preserved, the claim is meritless. Contrary to Wright's assertions, the trial court properly sat as fact-finder and explicitly found Wright failed to meet his burden of proving he acted in self-defense. Wright's assertion that the trial

court did not make a factual finding on the merits of his claim is contradicted by the record.

Following the immunity hearing, the trial court took the matter under advisement. (R.p.99). When the case was called for trial, the court announced its ruling orally and subsequently issued a written order holding that Wright failed to prove he acted in self-defense. (R.p.125, 371–73). In its order, the trial court summarized the testimony presented at the immunity hearing and accurately cited to the applicable law. The trial court then explained:

The Court has had the opportunity to hear and observe the defendant as he testified and consider other evidence presented which was observed and collected at the scene. **This Court is not persuaded by the defendant's version of events** as it appears to be contradicted by the physical evidence observed and collected at the scene.

(R.p.373) (emphasis added). Thus, the trial court denied immunity because it did not believe Wright's story, at least in part because it was not consistent with the physical evidence. This is a factual finding.

The trial court's explanation that he had an "opportunity to hear and observe the defendant as he testified" and that he was "not persuaded by [his] version of events" clearly indicates that he did not find Wright credible. Otherwise, he would have granted immunity from prosecution. Wright's assertion otherwise denies the court's words their plain, ordinary, and obvious meaning.

Wright seems to argue that because the trial court cited State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013), that the court must have abdicated his duty to determine whether Wright met his burden to prove self-defense under PPPA. After

stating its finding that it did not believe Wright's testimony, the trial court quoted oft-cited language from Curry that the case presented a "quintessential jury question." (R.p.373). See State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 372, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013). Immediately after, the court again explained that "the defendant has failed to establish to this Court's satisfaction by a preponderance of the evidence each of the elements of self-defense . . . ." (R.p.373).

The trial court's citation to Curry does not show that it failed to rule on Wright's self-defense claim. Rather, it merely signified that because Wright failed to prove he acted in self-defense, the question became one for the jury.

Curry is still good law, and the Supreme Court continues to cite it. In State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 827 S.E.2d 564 (2019), as in this case, the trial court denied immunity and cited Curry for the proposition that the case presented a "quintessential jury question." The Supreme Court explained that "[s]ome cases in which a defendant seeks immunity under the Act may present a 'quintessential jury question' regarding self-defense." State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 568 (2019). The court went on to explain:

[J]ust because conflicting evidence as to an immunity issue exists does not automatically require the court to deny immunity; the court must sit as the fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act. **Of course, at the conclusion of any given hearing, if the circuit court determines the movant has not met his burden of proof as to immunity, the case will go to trial, and the issue of self-defense may—depending upon the evidence presented at trial—be presented to the trial jury.**"

Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. at 451, 827 S.E.2d at 569 (emphasis added).

This is exactly what happened in this case. The trial court concluded that Wright "failed to establish to this court's satisfaction by a preponderance of the evidence each of the elements of self-defense . . . ." (R.p.373). The trial court "[sat] as fact-finder . . . weigh[ed] the evidence presented, and reach[ed] a conclusion under the act." Id. The trial court was well aware that it sat as fact-finder, and indicated that its ruling was based on Wright's lack of believability. Cf. State v. Gray, Opinion No. 5951 (S.C. Ct.App. filed November 23, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 41 at 42) (remanding for findings of fact where trial court stated self-defense determination was **"best left to the finders of fact, namely the trial jury"**) (emphasis added). The court was not required to use magic words in its order to fulfill its role as fact-finder. Nor was it forbidden from citing Curry to support its ruling.

While the Supreme Court in Cervantes-Pavon ultimately remanded the case with instructions for the trial court to conduct a self-defense analysis, it did so because the trial court's order was premised on "multiple errors of law" and an "erroneous characterization" of the testimony presented. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. at 452, 827 S.E.2d at 569. The Supreme Court noted that while PPPA does not require a trial court to make specific findings of fact on the record, the trial court's analysis in that case was such that the court was "unable to discern a legally-correct basis on which the court relied." Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. at 452, 827 S.E.2d at 569 and n.4.

That is not the case here. The trial court accurately summarized the evidence presented and provided lengthy citations to the applicable case law. Most importantly, it explained that its decision was based on Wright's lack of credibility and the inconsistent physical evidence. Cf. State v. McCarty, 437 S.C. 355, 371–74, 437 S.E.2d 902, 911–12 (2022) (remanding for factual findings where trial court "never engaged in a weighing of the evidence, and did not make any specific credibility or factual findings" and erroneously held that "the evidence presented conflicting views . . . and that presents a **factual question that must be answered by a jury**") (emphasis added). The trial court was not required to make detailed findings on every element of self-defense. See State v. Andrews, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019) (explaining that "while the circuit court may not have set forth every detail of its analysis in the record, the record is nevertheless adequate for a reviewing court to determine that the circuit court applied the correct burden of proof and made findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court's precedent").

Likewise, the trial court's citation to Tellwinger v. Marion, 222 S.C. 185, 72 S.E.2d 165 (1952), does not show an error of law. While Tellwinger is not directly applicable to this case because it was a civil case in a different procedural posture, the trial court did not intend that it serve as controlling precedent based on the similarity of the two cases. Rather, the court was merely quoting specific language emphasizing the importance of witness credibility, specifically the "inherent probability of the testimony and the credibility of the witness or the interests of the

witness in the result of the litigation." (R.p.373). The court quoted Tellwinger in conjunction with Black v. Hodge, 306 S.C. 196, 198, 410 S.E.2d 595, 596 (Ct.App. 1991), for the proposition that the "fact that testimony is not contradicted directly does not render it undisputed." This was likely in response to defense counsel's argument that "no witnesses . . . could provide eyewitness testimony of what happened that would contradict any of Mr. Wright's statements." (R.p.93).

The trial court's citation to Black and Tellwinger underscores the fact that its ruling was based largely on Wright's lack of credibility. By quoting language about the "interests of the witness" and the "inherent probability of the testimony," the court was indicating again that it did not believe Wright's dubious, self-serving story. See also State v. Johnson, 413 S.C. 458, 468, 776 S.E.2d 367, 372 (2015) (citing Black) ("[T]here is no requirement under the law that the trial court must believe a criminal defendant's version of events."). The citation to Tellwinger also shows that the court gave serious consideration to Wright's testimony. The fact that Tellwinger arose from a different procedural posture, where the jury served as fact-finder, does not negate the legitimacy of the language therein emphasizing the importance of witness credibility to findings of fact.

The trial court did not "[refuse] to exercise discretionary authority." Brief of Appellant at 12. By making a credibility determination and explaining that its decision was based on inconsistencies between Wright's testimony and the physical evidence, the trial court ruled on the merits of Wright's claim and provided

"adequate findings to support its decision." McCarty, 437 S.C. at 374, 437 S.E.2d at 912. That is all that is required under the abuse of discretion standard of review.

**C. Evidence supports the trial court's denial of immunity.**

Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Wright failed to prove he acted in self-defense. As noted above, the trial court concluded Wright failed to prove he acted in self-defense because: 1) the court found Wright not credible, and 2) Wright's testimony was not consistent with the physical evidence. These are both factual findings that this Court must affirm if there is any evidence in the record to support them. State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 116, 838 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2019). Because there is evidence to support the trial court's ruling, this Court should affirm.

Because Fernanders was his cotenant, Wright could not claim immunity under subsection § 16-11-440 (A) of PPA. See State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 292, 786 S.E.2d 132, 137 (2016). Instead, he was defaulted into subsection (C), and was required to prove he killed Fernanders out of necessity in order to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself, and that his conduct was reasonable. Jones, 416 S.C. at 301, 786 S.E.2d at 141. He was also required to prove he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Id. In other words, he was required to meet all the common law elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat. Id. A defendant must satisfy each element of self-defense to be entitled to immunity under the act. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) ("Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining

a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.").

It is apparent from the trial court's order that it found Wright failed to show he shot Fernanders out of necessity to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself.<sup>1</sup> In the conclusion section of its order, the trial court indicated that it denied immunity in part because Wright's version of events was "contradicted by the physical evidence observed and collected at the scene." (R.p.373). Earlier in the order, the court discussed facts which were inconsistent with Wright's story. The court noted that while Fernanders's body was covered in blood, there was "no blood found on the defendant." (R.p.272). The court pointed out that Wright "testified that while she was lying on the floor he hugged and kissed her . . . ." (R.p.272).

The court also pointed to officer testimony that the knife recovered from Fernanders's hand was "at an 'odd' angle." (R.p.272). The court noted there was no blood on the knife, even though there was significant blood on Fernanders's hand and torso. (R.p.272). The obvious implication is that the court believed Wright likely planted the knife by Fernanders's hand after he shot her. These inconsistencies support a finding that Wright was fabricating his story. See State v. Marshall, 428 S.C. 11, 20, 832 S.E.2d 618, 623 (Ct. App. 2019) (affirming denial of

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the trial court did not address whether Wright was at fault in bringing on the difficulty, Wright admitted he provoked Fernanders by pushing the air conditioning unit through her bedroom window. See State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 70, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007). Wright admitted he was "being childish," and this act was obviously intended to provoke Fernanders, who was alone in her bedroom at the time. (R.p.52).

immunity where trial court based its ruling in part on inconsistencies in defendant's testimony and "[b]ased on these inconsistencies, the circuit court found Marshall's testimony was unreliable and prevented the court from finding he established the relevant elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence").

Finally, there is the "inherent [im]probability" of Wright's testimony about how the fatal shot occurred. See Tellwinger, 222 S.C. at 188, 72 S.E.2d at 166. Wright claimed he "accidentally" shot Fernanders in the face from within 6 inches away. While he claimed she "lunged" at him with a knife while she was close enough that he could "feel her breath," Wright was completely uninjured. Wright claimed he had time to arm himself and plead with Fernanders to put down the knife, even though he also claimed she "ran up on" him and was "waiving [the knife] around." (R.p.50–51). Finally, Wright claimed Fernanders was "in the hallway" when she "lunged" at him, but her body was discovered in her bedroom sitting upright next to her bed. (R.p.64).

Wright's story reads like a self-serving fabrication, even on a cold record. But an appellate court cannot fully judge credibility from a cold record. This is why credibility determinations are properly left to the trial court. It is "well-established under South Carolina law that credibility determinations are entitled to great deference." State v. Johnson, 413 S.C. 458, 467, 776 S.E.2d 367, 371 (2015). "The determination of credibility must be left to the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and is therefore in a better position to evaluate their veracity." State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 117, 504 S.E.2d 324, 333 (1998) ("Our task is not to engage in a

de novo review of the evidence. Nor are we to usurp the authority of the trial court by attempting to judge the credibility of witnesses.").

The only evidence supporting Wright's claim is his own self-serving testimony. The trial court, after observing Wright on the stand, did not believe him. See State v. Johnson, 413 S.C. 458, 468, 776 S.E.2d 367, 372 (2015) (noting trial court's credibility finding was made after "assessing Respondent's actual demeanor on the witness stand"). The court emphasized that it had the opportunity to "hear and observe the defendant" immediately before it wrote that it was not persuaded by Wright's version of events. "[T]here is no requirement under the law that the trial court must believe a criminal defendant's version of events." Johnson, 413 S.C. 458, 468, 776 S.E.2d 367, 372 (citing Black v. Hodge, 306 S.C. 196, 198, 410 S.E.2d 595, 596 (Ct.App.1991)).

PPPA establishes a presumption against a finding of immunity by placing the burden of persuasion with the defendant. In a case such as this one, where the only evidence tending to establish self-defense comes from the defendant's testimony, credibility is of paramount importance. If the trial court does not believe the defendant's story, his self-defense claim will necessarily fail.

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